
 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 
Complainant, 

V. 
BRUCE JACOBS, 

Respondent. 
      _________________/ 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC20-1602 

Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,188 (11H) 
No. 2019-70,358 (11H) 
No. 2020-70,056 (11H) 

RESPONDENT’S VERIFIED MOTION TO DISMISS, 
FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS, AND/OR  

FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT UNDER  
FLORIDA'S ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE 

Respondent BRUCE JACOBS, by and through undersigned counsel and 

pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 768.295 and Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.140 

and 1.510, hereby files this Verified Motion to Dismiss, For Judgment on 

the Pleadings, and/or for Summary Judgment under Florida’s Anti-SLAPP 

Statute on Complainant’s disciplinary action against Respondent, and in 

support thereof states: 

INTRODUCTION 

This bar disciplinary matter is a question of first impression. The 

Florida Bar seeks to punish Mr. Jacobs based solely upon the content of 

his speech in violation of the Florida Anti-SLAPP Statute. Mr. Jacobs 

cannot be punished for exercising his first amendment right to comment in 

motions to disqualify that a judge is violating the judicial canons to allow 
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fraudulent foreclosures to deprive homeowners of their property without 

due process. 

“Attorneys play an important role in exposing valid problems within 

the judicial system.” The Fla. Bar v. Ray, 797 So. 2d 556, 560 (Fla. 2001). 

In Ray, this Honorable court recognized an “attorney's legitimate criticism of 

judicial officers” may be necessary to “publicize problems that legitimately 

deserve attention…. because attorneys are perceived by the public as 

having special knowledge of the workings of the judicial branch.” Id. 

The Florida Bar appealed the Referee’s recommendation to 

automatically reinstate Mr. Jacobs to the bar after a 90-day suspension, a 

public reprimand, two years of probation, remedial classes, and monetary 

fines. The Florida Bar wants Mr. Jacobs disbarred with no guarantee he 

would ever be readmitted to practice law in Florida again. 

Mr. Jacobs respectfully submits this disciplinary proceeding should be 

dismissed under the Florida Anti-SLAPP statute as it violates his first 

amendment right to speak freely and truthfully about the judiciary.1   

This Honorable Court instructs that “Lawyers are disbarred only in 

cases where they commit extreme violations involving moral turpitude, 

                                                             
1 Mr. Jacobs respectfully reserves his right to litigate these federal constitutional 

questions in federal court under England v. Louisiana State Bd. of Med. Examiners, 375 

U.S. 411, 84 S. Ct. 461, 11 L. Ed. 2d 440 (1964). 

 



 

3 
 

corruption, defalcations, theft, larceny or other serious or reprehensible 

offenses. Inquiry Concerning Davey, 645 So. 2d 398, 407–08 (Fla. 1994).  

Mr. Jacobs has no client complaints, no allegations of fraud, no 

financial impropriety, no allegations of improper solicitation or advertising 

and no allegation of any extreme violation of any serious or reprehensible 

offense like moral turpitude, corruption, defalcations, theft, or larceny.  

Mr. Jacobs is a former Miami-Dade County prosecutor and the 

Chairman of the Miami-Dade Bar Association’s Foreclosure Committee. He 

is an adult leader in Troop 7 and Pack 7 of Coral Gables where he teaches 

the Citizenship in the Nation merit badge to prospective Eagle Scouts. He 

regularly attends services at Chabad of Coconut Grove. He is a member in 

good standing of the Florida, New York, and New Jersey Bars for 25 years.  

The Florida Bar seeks to disbar Mr. Jacobs for filing motions to 

disqualify based upon his assertion that certain courts allowed Banks to 

deprive homeowners of their property without due process. Mr. Jacobs’ 

position is that these were truthful statements and zealous arguments 

made in order to protect his clients’ constitutional right to a fair and 

impartial tribunal. As part of this process, Mr. Jacobs apologized for his 

language The Florida Bar deemed inflammatory in 3 pleadings from 2018. 
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The Bar Referee’s report made no finding regarding whether any 

statement Mr. Jacobs made that impugned the integrity of the courts was 

true or false. The Referee’s Report rejected Mr. Jacobs’ apology and 

recommended the 90 day suspension finding Mr. Jacobs filed motions to 

disqualify that served no other purpose but to express displeasure when he 

“does not obtain the relief sought in his motions.”  

Respectfully, Mr. Jacob’s position is that the motions to disqualify 

served an important purpose to preserve the issue of judicial bias for 

further appellate review in each case. Failure to file the motion to disqualify 

would have waived the issue of judicial bias for each client.  

To be clear, the Referee even acknowledged later motions to 

disqualify were devoid of inflammatory language. Yet, the Florida Bar is not 

asking Mr. Jacobs to be disbarred for inflammatory language. It is seeking 

to disbar Mr. Jacobs for filing motions to disqualify that stated objective 

reasons to question the courts’ impartiality, including that the court: 

a. already recused itself before Mr. Jacobs filed a motion to 
disqualify; 
 

b. commented on the truthfulness of a motion to disqualify; 

c. prejudged the case; 

d. has personal financial entanglements with the plaintiff involving 
millions of dollars; 
 



 

5 
 

e. expressed an overriding personal bias against defense counsel; 

f. stated that counsel was dishonest; 

g. was the subject of a front page article in the Daily Business 
Review reporting it was “pro-bank and could care less about 
homeowners”; 

 
h. had repeatedly affirmed fraudulent foreclosures using a per curiam 

affirmance to block further appellate review; 
 

i. referred defense counsel to the Florida Bar for dishonesty; 

j. openly stated on the record it would not follow Florida Supreme 
Court law on the doctrine of unclean hands; 
 

k. initiated contempt proceedings against defense counsel for 
disrespect or criticism of the court without initiating contempt 
against bank lawyers engaged in fraud on the court; and 

 

l. threatened to hold defense counsel in criminal contempt and jail 
him for attempting to cross examine a witness about a fraudulent 
document introduced into evidence that proves unclean hands.  

 
This Honorable Court instructs “Attorneys should not be placed in a 

position where they fear retaliation for filing a motion to disqualify.” In re 

Cohen, 99 So. 3d 926, 940 (Fla. 2012). Lawyers have an ethical obligation 

to seek disqualification when a court’s impartiality is objectively in question.  

Mr. Jacobs had a good faith basis to seek disqualification for the 

grounds raised in his motions. His clients who signed the motion swore 

they objectively feared their court would not honor the judicial canons and 

uphold the law against banks committing fraud in foreclosure. As feared, 
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those courts ruled against the clients and in Mr. Jacobs’ view allowed the 

banks and their counsel to commit fraud on the court with impunity. 

Under the Judicial Canons, a judge has an ethical obligation to grant 

disqualification, even without a motion to disqualify, when their impartiality 

is objectively in question. As officers of the Court, all judges and attorneys 

swear an oath to protect the integrity of the proceedings and the 

constitutional rights of the litigants on both sides.  

The Florida Bar’s position that Mr. Jacobs should be disbarred for 

statements impugning the integrity of the court, even if true, would reach 

absurd results that endangers the integrity of our entire system of justice.  

This Honorable Court cannot allow the Florida Bar to chill lawyers 

from protecting their client’s rights to a fair and impartial judiciary. No 

lawyer will seek disqualification of a Judge knowing they could be disbarred 

because their motion impugned the integrity of a judge.  

Taken to its logical conclusion, no lawyer could challenge even a 

totally corrupt and dishonest judge that is violating the constitution without 

fear of being disbarred. This is antithetical to the oath of attorney, the 

Florida Bar Rules, the Judicial Canons and Florida law. This would 

undermine the integrity upon which the rule of law and our system of justice 

depends. There can be no rule of law with a judiciary that lacks integrity. 
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The U.S. Supreme Court instructs "The Constitution limits state 

power to impose sanctions for criticism of the official conduct of public 

officials, in criminal cases as in civil cases, to false statements concerning 

official conduct made with knowledge of their falsity or with reckless 

disregard of whether they were false or not. Garrison v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 

64 (1964) citing New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964).  

This Honorable Court should dismiss this disciplinary action as it 

violates Florida’s Anti-SLAPP statute, Mr. Jacobs’ first amendment rights, 

the selective prosecution doctrine, the federal and Florida fair housing act 

whistleblower protections, and the Ku Klux Klan Act of 1871. 

Procedural Background 

On November 3, 2020, The Florida Bar brought a three count 

Complaint against Respondent Bruce Jacobs. One Miami-Dade Circuit 

Judge testified against Mr. Jacobs while five Circuit Judges testified on his 

behalf. On November 14, 2021 the Referee issued her findings:   

COUNT I-THE FLORIDA BAR FILE NO. 2019-70, 18811H 

The Referee found that “The Florida Bar proved by clear and 

convincing evidence that Respondent, Bruce Jacobs, violated Rule 4-8.2(a) 

Impugning Qualifications and Integrity of Judges or Other Officers.” 

 

https://www.thefire.org/first-amendment-library/decision/garrison-v-louisiana/
https://www.thefire.org/first-amendment-library/decision/garrison-v-louisiana/
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COUNT II- THE FLORIDA BAR FILE NO. 2019-70, 358 11H  

The Referee found that “The Florida Bar proved by clear and 

convincing evidence that Respondent, Bruce Jacobs, violated Rule 4-8.2(a) 

Impugning Qualifications and Integrity of Judges or Other Officers.” 

COUNT Ill-  THE FLORIDA BAR FILE NO. 2020-70, 05611H 

The Referee found “The Florida Bar proved by clear and convincing 

evidence that Respondent, Bruce Jacobs, violated Rule 4-8.2(a) Impugning 

Qualifications and Integrity of Judges or Other Officers in Count Ill. 

As to the additional charge in Count III that Mr. Jacobs had violated 

Rule 4-3.3(a)(3) False Evidence; Duty to Disclose in Count Ill, the Court 

found that “The Florida Bar did not meet its burden of proof in trial by clear 

and convincing evidence. Respondent, Bruce Jacobs’ motion for Directed 

Verdict to Count Ill on the charge of violating Rule 4-3.3(a) was granted.” 

In summary, the Referee found that Mr. Jacobs was not guilty of the 

sole non-speech charge (lack of candor with the court) and convicted of the 

three “pure speech” charges. Mr. Jacobs respectfully submits truth is 

always a defense to the charge that he impugned the integrity of any judge. 

In finding Respondent guilty, the Referee found Mr. Jacobs filed 

motions to disqualify for no other purpose than to disparage the court. 
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However, the Referee made no findings that any statements in any Motion 

to Disqualify or pleadings were fact or opinion, true or false.  

According to the Florida Bar, Mr. Jacobs simply cannot say anything 

that might impugn the integrity of the judiciary, even if it is true. This is not 

consistent with the Florida Anti-SLAPP Statute, nor federal jurisprudence of 

the free speech rights of an attorney to criticize a judge if necessary to 

protect the client’s right to a fair tribunal.  

FLORIDA’S ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE 
 

This core constitutional conduct at issue herein is the right of an 

attorney to speak freely to the judiciary in advocating for a client’s due 

process rights, including the right to fair and impartial tribunal. This right 

falls squarely within the protections enacted by the Florida legislature when 

it passed the Florida Anti-SLAPP Statute.  

The express purpose of the statute is to protect the right to petition, 

speak freely, and otherwise participate in government without fear of 

reprisal based upon the content of such speech. 

The Florida Bar’s prosecution violates Florida’s Anti-SLAPP statute 

(Fla. Stat. § 768.295) as a matter of law because it impermissibly interferes 

with Respondent’s protected First Amendment freedom of expression on a 
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matter of public interest. The independence of the judiciary and fraudulently 

prosecuted foreclosures are clearly matters of public interest. 

At least 33 states, the District of Columbia, and the U.S. territory of 

Guam have passed some form of Anti-SLAPP legislation.2  

As with all the other states that have adopted the legislation, the 

Florida Anti-SLAPP statute immunizes free speech in the public context in 

accordance with the express the legislative intent “to protect the right in 

Florida to exercise the rights of free speech in connection with public issues 

. . . as protected by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution 

and s. 5, Art. I of the State Constitution.”  

In furtherance of that intent, Florida’s Anti-SLAPP statute commands 

adherence to the following principle:  

It is the public policy of this state that a person or governmental 
entity not engage in SLAPP suits because such actions are 
inconsistent with the right of persons to exercise such 
constitutional rights of free speech in connection with public 
issues. Therefore, the Legislature finds and declares that 
prohibiting such lawsuits as herein described will preserve this 
fundamental state policy, preserve the constitutional rights of 
persons in Florida, and assure the continuation of 
representative government in this state. It is the intent of the 
Legislature that such lawsuits be expeditiously disposed of by 
the courts.  
 

                                                             
2 See Laura Lee Prather & Robert T. Sherwin, The Changing Landscape of the Texas 
Citizens Participation Act, 52 Tex. Tech L. Rev. 163, fn. 9. (Winter 2020).  
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The Anti-SLAPP statute, at §768.295(4), provides a substantive right to 

immunity from legal action that suppresses First Amendment rights. 

The plain purpose of the Anti-SLAPP statute is to empower a 

defendant to end a “strategic lawsuit against public participation” suit 

quickly and early and the statute obligates this Court to dismiss this action 

with prejudice at the earliest opportunity.  

The Anti-SLAPP statute in Florida, §768.295(3), confers a 

substantive right to immunity based upon a defendant exercising the 

constitutional right of free speech in connection with a public issue.  

The term “free speech in connection with public issues” is defined as 

“any written or oral statement that is protected under applicable law and is 

made before a governmental entity in connection with an issue under 

consideration or review by a governmental entity,” Fla. Stat. 

§768.295(2)(a).  

The procedure giving effect to this prohibition on SLAPP suits is 

described in §768.295(4):  

A person or entity sued by a . . . person in violation of this 
section has a right to an expeditious resolution of a claim that 
the suit is in violation of this section. A person or entity may 
move the court for an order dismissing the action or granting 
final judgment in favor of that person or entity. The person or 
entity may file a motion for summary judgment, together with 
supplemental affidavits, seeking a determination that the 
claimant's . . . lawsuit has been brought in violation of this 
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section. The claimant . . . shall thereafter file a response and 
any supplemental affidavits. As soon as practicable, the court 
shall set a hearing on the motion, which shall be held at the 
earliest possible time after the filing of the claimant's or 
governmental entity's response. Id.   
 
The Florida Bar’s Complaint falls squarely into the type of action 

intended to stifle public expression on matters of public interest. 

 

There is no exception in the Anti-SLAPP statute for bar proceedings 

Undersigned counsel was unable to find any cases involving the 

application of the Florida Anti-SLAPP statute to a Florida Bar disciplinary 

action and believes that this is a case of first impression in Florida.  

Of note, Texas recently interpreted its similar Anti-SLAPP statute to 

apply to bar disciplinary proceedings. In Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline v. 

Rosales, 577 S.W.3d 305 (Tex. App. 2019), the Court of Appeals of Texas 

found the Texas anti-SLAPP law applied to an attorney ethics case. The 

Court began by addressing the Texas Bar’s argument the Legislature could 

not intend to include disciplinary proceedings in the Anti-Slapp Statute. 

The Court forcefully rejected the Bar’s argument, finding that “the 

Legislature was presumably aware of the existence of government 

enforcement actions and procedures—including the Commission’s 

authority to bring lawyer-discipline actions in district court.”    
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The Court concluded that if the legislature intended to exempt bar 

disciplinary proceedings it would have included such an exemption and the 

Court found that the Bar’s position “would require us to either ignore or add 

words to the text that the Legislature enacted.”3 

 

ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE SHIFTS THE BURDEN ON FLORIDA BAR 

The Florida Anti-SLAPP statute places the burden on the Florida Bar 

to prove that its prosecution is not based on First Amendment rights in 

connection with a public issue. The burden shifting nature of the Anti-

SLAPP statute is outlined in Gundel v. AV Homes, Inc., 264 So. 3d 304 

(Fla. 2d DCA 2019), which stated: 

The Residents' argument suggests that a motion to dismiss based 
on the Anti-SLAPP statute requires the trial court to do more than 
accept as true the factual allegations in the four corners of the 
complaint and draw all reasonable inferences therefrom in favor of 
the claimant. We agree. 

… the statute is silent as to the burden or procedure for 

considering a motion to dismiss. The language of the statute does, 

however, attach the action to the claimant rather than the SLAPP 

defendant: "[a] person or governmental entity in this state may not 

file," thus prohibiting the claimant from taking action, rather than "a 

person or entity may not be sued by a governmental entity or 

                                                             
3 The Texas legislature recently amended their Anti-SLAPP statute to exclude attorney 

discipline. 
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another person." § 768.295(3). The statutory language supports 

requiring the claimant to meet a burden. 

Placing the initial burden on the SLAPP defendant to set forth a 

prima facie case that the Anti-SLAPP statute applies and then 

shifting the burden to the claimant to demonstrate that the claims 

are not "primarily" based on First Amendment rights in connection 

with a public issue and not "without merit" serves the purpose of 

the statute and conforms with the procedures employed in 

considering other statutorily-based motions to dismiss.  

Mr. Jacobs has made a prima facie case that the Anti-SLAPP statute 

is applicable to his statements before the Court on a public issue and the 

burden therefore shifts to the Bar. 

Losing an Independent, Impartial and Fair Judiciary is a Matter of 
Public Interest that Warrants First Amendment Protection 

The independence and fairness of Florida’s judiciary is certainly a 

matter of public interest as evidenced by the recent Miami Herald op-ed 

entitled Florida is Dangerously Close to Losing its Independent, 

Impartial and Fair Judiciary authored by a former member of this 

Honorable Court, Justice Peggy A. Quince.4  

Justice Quince warned that our courts are right now being captured 

by special interests in Florida. Justice Quince explained those of certain 

4 https://news.yahoo.com/florida-dangerously-close-losing-independent- 

215531969.html?soc_src=community&soc_trk=fb 
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ideologies and campaign donors spent heavily to capture the courts. She 

warned this “perversion ... threatens to turn our higher courts and to some 

extent our trial courts into little more than of an extension of the executive 

branch. The rule of law is in imminent danger.”  

Justice Quince warned of the potential for repeats of scandals that 

rocked this Honorable Court decades ago involving bribery, malfeasance, 

and misfeasance. Justice Quince warned this happens when Judges’ 

decisions are guided by ideology and campaign donors rather than federal 

and state constitutions and Florida law.  

As an attorney, Mr. Jacobs has the same free speech rights as 

former Justice Quince who is also a member of the Bar. Mr. Jacobs has a 

First Amendment right to warn that banks have captured our appellate 

courts and some trial judges. Mr. Jacobs did not publish his warning in an 

op-ed in the Miami Herald. He filed verified motions to disqualify that raised 

his clients’ objective reasons to question whether the court would fairly and 

impartially protect their constitutional rights.  

The Anti-SLAPP statute ensures Mr. Jacobs can speak truth to power 

and give voice to the voiceless to ensure they are not deprived of their 

property without due process in violation of their constitutional rights.  
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Respondent’s comments concern judges that are elected to office 

 

It is also important to recognize that the statements for which Mr. 

Jacobs is being punished constitute statements about judges who are 

either elected by the public or subject to an election to decide their 

retention on the District Court of Appeal.  As such, Respondent is engaged 

in core constitutional conduct- free speech in connection with seeking 

redress from elected officials.   

The public who elect judges have a right to know if attorneys that 

appear before them think those judges are depriving litigants of their 

constitutional due process rights in favor of wealthy corporations. The Anti-

SLAPP statute also ensures the public’s first amendment right to hear Mr. 

Jacobs speak on his experiences in the court system as a nationally 

recognized foreclosure defense attorney. The public needs attorneys like 

Mr. Jacobs to be free to speak out about concerns with the judiciary so the 

public may make informed decisions as they enter the voting booth to elect 

or retain judges that will best uphold the integrity of the judiciary.  

In his 2016 book Chain of Title: How Three Ordinary Americans 

Uncovered Wall Street's Great Foreclosure Fraud, author David Dayen 

investigated how three Floridians successfully challenged an industry that 
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kicked millions of families out of their homes based on false evidence by 

mortgage companies that had no legal right to foreclose: 

The oddest thing about the predominance of the question is that 
everyone already assumes they know the answer. They believe 
that too many politicians, regulators, and law enforcement 

officials, bought off with campaign contributions or the promise of 
a future job, simply allowed banker miscreants to annihilate the 
law in pursuit of profit. But they must not like the explanation very 
much, because they keep asking why, as if they want to be 
proven wrong, to be given a different story. 
 
Maybe they don't like the implications of a government that lets 
Wall Street walk. It does too much violence to the conception of 
the country they have in their mind, with its ideals of justice and 
fairness. It explains the disempowerment people feel in the face 
of a rigged economic and political system, with differing standards 
of treatment depending on wealth and power. It engenders a loss 
of faith in core institutions, turning our democracy into a sideshow, 
where the real action happens offstage.  
 
Lawyers are subject to numerous types of restriction on their speech, 

including statements in the media that may affect the right to a fair trial, 

solicitation, and advertising.  

However, allowing speech by attorneys who are critical of the 

judiciary is an essential component of American justice. Attorneys have 

specialized knowledge of inner workings of the judicial system. Mr. Jacobs 

is in a special position to use his knowledge to identify areas of concern so 

corrective action (judicially, legislatively and law enforcement) can be taken 

when needed to fortify that system of justice. Questions of capture of courts 
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are a serious concern for all citizens. Capture leads to tyranny and loss of 

individual freedoms. 

The U.S. Supreme Court has addressed lawyer free speech in the 

unanimous ruling in Garrison v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 64 (1964). Garrison, a 

District Attorney in Louisiana, accused certain state court judges of 

hampering his efforts to enforce certain vice laws. In New York Times Co. 

v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964), decided eight months before Garrison, the 

Court held that truth is an absolute defense against libel in civil court.   

Furthermore, the U.S. Supreme Court decided that malicious 

statements made against public officials could be protected under the First 

and Fourteenth Amendments even if the statements were false and made 

with ill will. The Garrison decision, which overturned a state supreme court 

ruling, applied the newly determined guidelines for civil libel laws to laws 

punishing an attorney for speaking against a judge. 

Mr. Jacobs statements, as the leading attorney defending 

homeowners in a foreclosure system that is being abused by banks, are 

core political speech protected by the First Amendment.  
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The most odious forms of unacceptable restrictions on free speech 

involve efforts by government to insulate itself from criticism.5 Speech 

regarding the qualifications and integrity of judges, the third branch of our 

government, is essential for democracy to function properly and cannot be 

suppressed merely to protect judicial reputation. The punishment of 

attorney speech impugning judicial integrity falls squarely with the Sullivan 

and Garrison rules.   

In fact, in Sullivan, the Court noted that the judiciary cannot protect its 

reputation through contempt citations even if the statements contained 

“half-truths” and “misinformation.” Sullivan, 376 US at 272 (quoting 

Pennekamp v. Florida, 328 US 331 (1946). 

Any apparent offense by Mr. Jacobs has no compelling interest that 

exceeds that of the First Amendment. See First National Bank of Boston v. 

Bellotti, 435 U.S. 765, 776, 98 S. Ct. 1407, 1415 (1978); Bates v. Little 

Rock, 361 U.S. 516, 80 S. Ct. 412 (1960); Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 

88, 101-102 (1940).  

The First Amendment “was fashioned to assure unfettered 

interchange of ideas for the bringing about of political and social changes 

desired by the people.” Roth v. United States, 354 U.S. 476, 484, 77 S.Ct. 

                                                             
5 Cass R. Sunstein, FREE SPEECH NOW, 59 U. Chi. L. Rev. 255, 305 (1992) available 
at https://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/uclrev/vol59/iss1/10/ 

https://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/uclrev/vol59/iss1/10/
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1304, 1308, 1 L.Ed.2d 1498 (1957). Thus, the Supreme Court has stated 

that “speech concerning public affairs is more than self-expression; it is the 

essence of self-government.” Garrison v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 64, 74-75, 85 

S.Ct. 209, 216, 13 L.Ed.2d 125 (1964). 

Fundamentally, any means used by a Court to chill Mr. Jacobs’ 

speech on matters of importance to the public, even if compelling (it is not), 

still must be narrowly tailored to avoid unnecessary abridgement of the 

right of free speech. Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 96 S. Ct. 612 (1976); 

NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 83 S. Ct. 328 (1963); Shelton v. Tucker, 

364 U.S. 479, 81 S. Ct. 247 (1960). 

Here, Mr. Jacobs’ submissions, even if perceived to be offensive, 

cannot result in disciplinary action. His speech is both reasonable and 

made in good faith as a lawyer commenting on issues about which he has 

knowledge and is considered by the public to be an informed 

spokesperson. Mr. Jacobs’ interest in the issues is solely to protect the 

constitutional rights of his clients, Florida homeowners, and to fight for a 

fair, independent and impartial judiciary.  

The Florida Bar and the Third DCA take statements out of context 

from Mr. Jacobs’ three pleadings from 2018 to make them appear 

inflammatory and sanctionable. One statement that caused significant 
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discomfort was Mr. Jacobs use of the phrase “traitor to the constitution” to 

describe the court that refused to address systemic fraud that deprived 

homeowners of their property without due process.  

Respectfully, the U.S. Supreme Court has used the same language 

“traitor to the constitution” to describe the same problem in Cohens v. State 

of Virginia, 19 U.S. 264, 404, 5 L. Ed. 257 (1821), when it held: 

It is most true that this Court will not take jurisdiction if it should 
not: but it is equally true, that it must take jurisdiction if it should. 
The judiciary cannot, as the legislature may, avoid a measure 
because it approaches the confines of the constitution. We 
cannot pass it by because it is doubtful. With whatever doubts, 
with whatever difficulties, a case may be attended, we must 
decide it, if it be brought before us. We have no more right to 
decline the exercise of jurisdiction which is given, than to usurp 

that which is not given. The one or the other would be 
treason to the constitution. Questions may occur which we 
would gladly avoid; but we cannot avoid them. All we can do is, 
to exercise our best judgment, and conscientiously to perform 
our duty. In doing this, on the present occasion, we find this 
tribunal invested with appellate jurisdiction in all cases arising 
under the constitution and laws of the United States. We find no 
exception to this grant, and we cannot insert one. 
 
It is important to note the public at large is entitled to protection from 

any unnecessary curtailment of its First Amendment privileges if Mr. 

Jacobs is forced to cease his legitimate criticism of the judicial handling of 

foreclosure cases. Without an experienced lawyer of Mr. Jacobs’ stature 

speaking out about his reasonable criticism of the judicial foreclosure 

system and the penchant for some judges to blindly accept the self-serving 
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assertions of financial institutions, the public will be deprived of its right to 

receive information about the workings of its judicial representatives from 

those most familiar with the operation of the judicial branch of government.  

The right of the public to receive information is a critical benefit of the 

First Amendment. No sufficient imperative exists to justify a restriction of 

core First Amendment rights when Mr. Jacobs’ statements are not shown 

to be incorrect allegations of fact.  

Like Oklahoma’s Porter decision, Colorado and Texas both instruct 

that “interest about judges is important in Colorado, where the public 

periodically votes whether to retain judges.” See Colo. Const. art. VI, §§ 

20(1), 25; Semaan, 508 S.W.2d at 432 (“[T]he right of a lawyer as a citizen 

to publicly criticize adjudicatory officials .... is particularly meaningful where, 

as in Texas, the adjudicatory officials are selected through the elective 

system.”). In re Green, 11 P.3d 1078, 1085 (Colo. 2000).  

“Attorneys should be free to challenge, in appropriate legal 

proceedings, a court's perceived partiality without the court misconstruing 

such a challenge as an assault on the integrity of the court. Such 

challenges should, however, be made only when substantiated by the trial 

record.” United States v. Brown, 72 F.3d 25, 29 (5th Cir. 1995). Mr. Jacobs 
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has established a substantial record documented by orders of many judges 

that support his challenge to the court’s perceived partiality. 

Consistent with the high trust placed in the courts by the people, 

courts cannot equally shield the judiciary from critique by that portion of the 

public most situated to advance knowledgeable criticism. State ex rel. 

Oklahoma Bar Ass’n v. Porter, 766 P.2d at 968–69.  

Consequently, a statement by a lawyer that is viewed as impugning 

the honesty or integrity of a judge or the judiciary cannot be subjected to 

disciplinary sanctions unless that statement is false. Truth is and remains 

an absolute defense. Yagman, supra, 55 F.3d at 1438. 

“The fair administration of justice provides a valuable right to 

challenge in good faith the neutrality of a judge who appears to be biased 

against a party. Lawyers using professional care, circumspection and 

discretion in exercising that right need not be apprehensive of chastisement 

or penalties for having the advocative courage to raise such a sensitive 

issue to assure the client's right to a fair trial and the integrity of our system 

for administering justice.” U.S. v. Cooper, 872 F.2d 1, 5 (1st Cir. 1989).  

The assumption that respect for the judiciary can be won by shielding 

judges from published criticism wrongly appraises the character of 

American public opinion. For it is a prized American privilege to speak 
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one’s mind, although not always with perfect good taste, on all public 

institutions. And an enforced silence, however limited, solely in the name of 

preserving the dignity of the bench, would probably engender resentment, 

suspicion, and contempt much more than it would enhance respect. 

Standing Comm. on Discipline of U.S. Dist. Court for Cent. Dist. of 

California v. Yagman, 55 F.3d 1430, 1445 (9th Cir. 1995). 

“No other principle is more essential to the fair administration of 

justice than the impartiality of the presiding judge.” In re Barnes, 2 So. 3d 

166, 171 (Fla. 2009), citing In re Gridley, 417 So.2d 950, 953 (Fla.1982) 

(holding that judge failed to promote public confidence in the integrity and 

impartiality of the judiciary when he injected himself and his office into a 

case by advocating for a defendant). 

In Barnes, the Florida Supreme Court “cautioned judges” to avoid 

being “misunderstood by the public as being unwilling to enforce the law as 

written, thereby undermining public confidence in the integrity and 

impartiality of the judiciary.” Id.  

“Florida has a compelling interest in protecting the integrity of the 

judiciary and maintaining the public's confidence in an impartial judiciary.” 

Fla. Bar v. Aven, 317 So. 3d 1095, 1099 (Fla. 2021). 
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The First Amendment also serves to protect counsel who have an 

ethical obligation to speak out and demand disqualification in their zealous 

representation. Defense counsel cannot be punished for statements 

impugning the integrity of the court because they are supported by the 

record and not made with reckless disregard as to their truth or falsity. The 

accusations about the serious misconduct in this case are disturbing, yet 

entirely truthful. Truth is always an absolute defense. 

An Honorable Court makes legal decisions, not political decisions. No 

court can justly decide one party, especially the most rich and powerful, 

can commit fraud on the court by forgery of endorsements with impunity. It 

is a felony to fraudulently affix endorsements in Florida. A Pasco County 

foreclosure defense attorney is presently serving nine years in prison for 

committing the same act of forgery of endorsements to win foreclosure 

cases against BANA.6 This is not “Equal Justice Under Law” as engraved 

on the edifice of the U.S. Supreme Court. 

Only by remaining fair and impartial can courts protect against the 

threat of capture, as the Florida Supreme Court instructs: 

Paradoxical as it may seem, to the extent that judges are seen as 

political rather than judicial, to that extent they lose their authority and 

the power they now have to induce obedience to their orders. If judges 
                                                             
6 https://www.tampabay.com/business/disbarred-lawyer-constantine-
kalogianis- sentenced-to-prison-for-nine-years-20190510/ 
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are stripped of the robes of the law-or if, in the foolish pursuit of 

political power, they strip themselves of the robes of the law-the 

people will cease to accept the authority of court decisions, law 

enforcement officers will be less ready to enforce court orders, 

legislators will be more ready to curb judicial powers, and the judges 

will wonder where their power went. 

 

Any judge will have more power by seeming to be completely judicial 

and not at all political. A judge who would be truly powerful, who 

would be a significant force and influence for good in the American 

polity, must not only seem but actually be wholly judicial. This has 

always been the secret of politically successful American judges. 

 

In In re LaMotte, 341 So.2d 513, 517 (Fla.1977), this Court removed a 

judge from office and stated: “Judges should be held to even stricter 

ethical standards [than attorneys] because in the nature of things even 

more rectitude and uprightness is expected of them.” 

 

The canons impose high standards and a heavy burden on those 

persons who accept judicial office. They are standards measuring 

fitness for judicial office and include tests of behavior relating to 

integrity and propriety that preclude judges from taking actions that 

the general public can engage in without consequence. In re Code of 

Jud. Conduct (Canons 1, 2, & 7A(1)(b)), 603 So. 2d 494, 498-9 (Fla. 

1992). 

MR. JACOBS IS PROTECTED FROM RETALIATION  
UNDER THE FEDERAL AND FLORIDA FAIR HOUSING ACT 

 
Mr. Jacobs represents foreclosure clients from all socio-economic 

backgrounds, including many African-American and Hispanic homeowners 

fighting to save their homes from “subprime loans” fraudulently being 

foreclosed on by Bank of America, N.A. (“BANA”) and JP Morgan Chase 
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(“Chase”). Mr. Jacobs is assisting those clients in bringing claims under the 

Federal and Fair Housing Act as fraudulent foreclosures are another 

means of discrimination against communities of color over the past decade. 

The City of Miami prevailed at the U.S. Supreme Court that subprime 

loans “intentionally targeted predatory practices at African–American and 

Latino neighborhoods and residents, lending to minority borrowers on 

worse terms than equally creditworthy nonminority borrowers and inducing 

defaults by failing to extend refinancing and loan modifications to minority 

borrowers on fair terms. The City alleged that the Banks' discriminatory 

conduct led to a disproportionate number of foreclosures and vacancies in 

majority-minority neighborhoods, Bank of Am. Corp. v. City of Miami, Fla., 

137 S. Ct. 1296, 1298, 197 L. Ed. 2d 678 (2017). 

BANA and Chase both targeted Miami’s communities of color “in a 

decade-long pattern of racially discriminatory lending in the residential 

housing market that caused [the aggrieved party] economic harm.” Id. 

The following year, in 2018, the Mayor of Miami, Francis Suarez, and 

then Chairman Ken Russell of the Miami City Commission unanimously 

passed Resolution 6021 to create the “Foreclosure Sanctions Affordable 

Housing Trust Fund” as a vessel to ensure any monetary sanctions 

imposed as a result of Mr. Jacobs’ efforts would address the affordable 
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housing crisis across Florida. The Foreclosure Sanctions Affordable 

Housing Trust Fund specifically addressed systemic fraud of forgery and 

perjury by BANA, JP Morgan Chase in these foreclosures. 

Respectfully, both the Federal and Florida Fair Housing Acts make it 

illegal to retaliate against Mr. Jacobs for assisting clients who are “persons 

aggrieved” by these illegal foreclosures arising out of these discriminatory 

subprime loans. See 24 CFR § 100.400 and Fla. Stat. §760.37. This 

Honorable Court should recognize Mr. Jacobs’ constitutional right to assist 

his clients in reporting violations of the federal and Florida Fair Housing 

Acts which is also protected by the Anti-SLAPP statute.  

 

THE SELECTIVE PROSECUTION DEFENSE  

Mr. Jacobs should have prevailed on his selective prosecution to this 

disciplinary action. Mr. Jacobs asserts The Florida Bar prosecuted him in 

bad faith with the ulterior motive to violate his first amendment rights. 

Thompson v. The Florida Bar, 526 F. Supp. 2d 1264 (S.D. Fla. 2007). 

The Bar Referee erred in denying Mr. Jacobs’ selective prosecution 

defense and his motion to reopen the trial to consider additional evidence 

the Bar abdicated its responsibility to enforce the Rules of Discipline fairly 

and equally. The additional evidence would show The Florida Bar and the 
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Third DCA took no action against bank lawyers who impugned the integrity 

of a judge who initiated criminal contempt charges for their lack of candor 

soon after the trial. The Third DCA removed the judge and initiated 

contempt charged against Mr. Jacobs in a subprime loan foreclosure that 

again violated the federal and Florida Fair Housing Acts. 

The evidence of selective prosecution is that (1) the Bar prosecuted a 

weak case against Mr. Jacobs under Rule 4-3.3 for lack of candor7 and 

Rule 4-8.2 for impugning the integrity of the judge, (2) the Bar declined to 

prosecute a much stronger case for the same rule violations against 

attorneys for large and powerful financial institutions despite orders 

initiating criminal contempt against them for fraud upon the court, and (3) 

the prosecution really just seeks to silence Mr. Jacobs so he cannot 

continue to practice law, expose the systemic fraud, or question the 

impartiality of certain courts in violation of his first amendment rights.  

Mr. Jacobs has orders from state, federal, and appellate courts that 

evidenced ongoing widespread fraud in foreclosures involving forgery of 

endorsements, false assignments, systemic perjury, destruction of 

evidence, defiance of court orders, backdating of records, and the evasion 

                                                             
7The lack of candor charge was so weak Mr. Jacobs was found not guilty 
by a directed verdict.  
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of documentary stamp taxes that pay for affordable housing. Failure to pay 

these taxes is a felony that renders those mortgages unenforceable.  

Many judges, including some who testified for Mr. Jacobs at his bar 

trial, exposed ongoing serious misconduct in foreclosures. The state Circuit 

Judges and federal District Court judges presiding over Mr. Jacobs’ cases 

have used words like “unclean hands” “coverup” “fabricated and coached 

testimony” “bad faith” “credible allegations” and “outrageous misconduct” in 

court orders. See attached as Appendix A. 

One sitting Third DCA Judge granted Mr. Jacobs’ motion to vacate 

judgment due to the fraud as a trial judge in Bank of New York v. Simpson. 

Some of the comments Mr. Jacobs is being prosecuted for here were made 

for Mr. Simpson in a verified motion to disqualify the Third DCA that 

preserved the issue of judicial bias for further appellate review. 

Another sitting Third DCA Judge, as a trial judge, conducted an 

evidentiary hearing and determined BANA, Bank of New York Mellon 

(“BONYM”) and their counsel were “willfully seeking to stymie the discovery 

process… necessitating the unnecessary expenditure of countless hours of 

judicial labor on relatively straightforward discovery requests” in BONYM v. 

Atkin. Both Third DCA judges confronted the same exact systemic fraud as 

trial judges. The Third DCA recently initiated more contempt charges 
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against Mr. Jacobs for reciting these same facts in another fraudulent 

foreclosure where the trial judge found bad faith in BONYM v. Bontoux. 

In full candor, all contempt orders issued by any trial judge against 

banks or their counsel in fraudulent foreclosures Mr. Jacobs defended were 

either vacated or reversed by the Third DCA. The trial judge who found 

willful efforts to stymie discovery vacated her order after BONYM’s counsel 

asked to reopen the evidentiary hearing to testify himself. Governor Rick 

Scott elevated that judge to the Third DCA after her order was vacated and 

then BONYM’s counsel promptly withdrew his request to testify.  

The Honorable Miami-Dade Circuit Judge Beatrice Butchko initiated 

criminal contempt proceedings against Bank of America, other banks, and 

their lawyers, in three different foreclosures defended by Mr. Jacobs over 

the course of six years. See Contempt Orders in HSBC v. Joseph Buset, 

U.S. Bank v. Raul Zayas, and Bank of New York v. Julie Nicolas. In all 

three cases, Judge Butchko was reversed by the Third DCA.  

In the Nicolas case, the Third DCA removed Judge Butchko for bias 

while refusing to disqualify itself for bias. The Daily Business Review 

published a front page article on Judge Butchko being being “booted off” 

the case. The American Bar Association took the story national.  
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Mr. Buset and Mr. Zayas are both Hispanic-Americans and Ms. 

Nicolas is Haitian-American. In their cases, Judge Butchko found banks 

and their lawyers made false arguments, used perjured testimony and false 

evidence, defied her discovery orders, defied orders to sit for deposition, 

and defied her civil contempt orders in a willful and contumacious effort to 

defy discovery orders that would expose the full extent of the fraud.  

The Third DCA reversed all of Judge Butchko’s contempt orders, 

finding she abused her discretion in Buset, Zayas, and Nicolas, despite 

other judges agreeing with her finding of unclean hands for the same fraud.  

In Zayas and Nicolas, partners in the consumer financial services 

practice group at Akerman LLP (“Akerman”) defied Judge Butchko’s orders 

and then presented what Mr. Jacobs deemed demonstrably false 

arguments to the Third DCA. The Third DCA accepted these arguments 

and took no action against Akerman or their clients for fraud on the court or 

defying Judge Butchko. 

In Nicolas, Akerman filed an emergency appeal that impugned Judge 

Butchko’s integrity and lacked candor. Akerman asked the Third DCA to 

“urgently hold” Judge Butchko and Mr. Jacobs “accountable” for falsifying 

contempt charges against their partner. Akerman insinuated a conspiracy 

to “rubberstamp” a bogus criminal contempt order against an Akerman 
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partner “without any factual basis” because Mr. Jacobs had a “special 

influence” over Judge Butchko.  

The Third DCA rejected Akerman’s argument without comment but 

took no action to hold Akerman accountable for their lack of candor or 

unfair attack against Judge Butchko’s integrity. Judge Butchko thereafter 

took no further action to confront other cases where Akerman was 

committing fraud or the foreclosing bank failed to pay documentary stamp 

taxes in violation of Fla. Stat. §§199.282 and 201.08. 

The Bar Referee denied a motion to reopen the bar trial to consider 

that The Florida Bar has closed out its own investigation against the 

Akerman partners without taking any action. While Mr. Jacobs apologized 

for any offensive language in his pleadings from 2018, the Bar has ignored 

Akerman’s slander against Judge Butchko without even an apology. 

Mr. Jacobs has been selectively singled out and targeted for 

discipline by the Bar because he represents homeowners in his exercise of 

his constitutional right to speak out in the course of his duty to provide 

effective representation. It is his right and obligation as a member of the 

Bar to speak out about constitutional violations involving fraud. That is the 

underpinning of a selective prosecution claim as described in State v. 
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A.R.S., 684 So. 2d 1383 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (selective prosecution based 

on impermissible considerations including exercise of constitutional rights). 

Mr. Jacob’s has argued that powerful attorneys representing powerful 

interests that deprive Floridians of their constitutional rights have 

apparently captured the Bar to protect their misconduct by prosecuting their 

adversaries. The Bar’s response is almost an outright admission of 

selective enforcement against Mr. Jacobs. The Referee erred in denying 

Mr. Jacobs’ motion to reopen the evidence to enable him to augment the 

record with this proof of selective prosecution as a defense to the charges 

brought against him.  

The Bar is not prosecuting all attorneys involved in serious 

misconduct that lack candor equally. It is trying to silence Mr. Jacobs for 

exposing that misconduct and lack of candor.  

The Florida Bar is seeking to punish Mr. Jacobs for statements made 

in court filings8 in furtherance of zealous advocacy on behalf of his many 

clients (paid and pro bono) and their due process rights. The same judges 

who accused Mr. Jacobs of criticizing them prosecuted him for that 

criticism, and then asked The Florida Bar to prosecute him further.  

                                                             
8 Of note, these statements were not made in the media or in some other public context, 
but rather in court filings. 
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Mr. Jacobs’ statements in motions to disqualify raised objective 

reasons to question the impartiality of certain judges. In all the cases, Mr. 

Jacobs presented evidence the banks and their lawyers had unclean hands 

and presented false evidence to obtain the equitable relief of foreclosure.  

 

Fraudulent Foreclosures are a matter of public interest 

Mr. Jacobs has successfully represented homeowners against bank 

foreclosure actions since the financial crash in 2008. This is an emotional 

taxing practice, made more difficult by the troubling reality that banks 

systematically use fraudulent documents to turn families out of their homes. 

This is not an “allegation,” but a widely recognized reality of our 

housing system. In a Congressional hearing on Robo-Signing before the 

U.S. House of Representatives Subcommittee on Housing in 2010, there 

was testimony that: 

Time and time again, regulators have found the “failure of the 
mortgage service industry to uphold due process, to obey the 
law, and to live up to its oft-stated goal of preventing 
foreclosures.”9 

The Subcommittee heard lengthy testimony and concluded that:   

The reports of robo-signing, faulty documentation, and other 
improper foreclosure practices by mortgage servicers are 

                                                             
9 https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CHRG-111hhrg63124/html/CHRG-111hhrg63124.htm 
 

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CHRG-111hhrg63124/html/CHRG-111hhrg63124.htm
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unacceptable. If servicers fail to comply with the law, they 
should be held accountable. 

An article entitled TURNS OUT MUCH-HYPED SETTLEMENT STILL 

ALLOWS BANKS TO STEAL HOMES, found “New data reveals mega-

banks still illegally foreclosing on thousands. Get this: the housing 

settlement allows it”:10  

But new evidence reveals the nation’s largest banks have 
apparently continued to fabricate documents, rip off customers 
and illegally kick people out of their homes, even after inking a 
series of settlements over the same abuses. And the worst part 
of it all is that the main settlement over foreclosure fraud was so 
weakly written that it actually allows such criminal conduct to 

occur, at least up to a certain threshold. Potentially hundreds of 
thousands of homes could be effectively stolen by the big 
banks without any sanctions. 
In Heather McGhee’s 2021 NYT bestseller THE SUM OF US, an 

exploration of how public policy harms our most vulnerable populations, a 

homeowner who had been foreclosed upon stated “If I could leave anybody 

who’s gone through this with one message it is this:  Do not say ‘I lost my 

house.’ You did not lose your house.  It was taken away from you.”11 

Mr. Jacobs is perhaps the most prominent and successful attorney 

nationwide fighting banks in their effort to take homes away from families 

using forged endorsements and false assignments. Even the referee noted 

10
 https://www.salon.com/2013/05/02/the_foreclosure_fraud_settlement_was_a_big_dud/ 

11
 Page 79. 

https://www.salon.com/2013/05/02/the_foreclosure_fraud_settlement_was_a_big_dud/
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Mr. Jacobs “points to sanctions orders entered against plaintiffs and their 

attorneys for stonewalling discovery, and bad faith litigation tactics under 

the ‘unclean hands’ doctrine.”  

The Florida Bar and the Third DCA chose to prosecute the 

whistleblower attorney and not the bank attorneys engaged in the alleged 

fraud. They took no action after those bank attorneys impugned the 

integrity of the court. Mr. Jacobs cannot be prosecuted for exercising his 

free speech right to say The Florida Bar and the Third DCA lack integrity. 

Mr. Jacobs is the Whistleblower/Relator in a false claims act case 

presently on appeal in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal. United States 

of America, ex. rel. Bruce Jacobs v. JP Morgan Chase, Southern District of 

Florida case number 1:20-CIV-20543-Williams.  

Mr. Jacobs was also the Whistleblower/Relator in another false 

claims act case against Bank of America, N.A. (“BANA”) in United States of 

America, ex. rel. Bruce Jacobs v. Bank of America, N.A. in Southern 

District of Florida case number 1:15-cv-24585-UU.  

Mr. Jacobs exposed that both BANA and JP Morgan Chase 

submitted false claims to the government by knowingly committing fraud 

using forged and false evidence in foreclosures. Both committed perjury as 

needed, withheld evidence, and engaged in scorched earth litigation.  
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BANA paid a substantial penalty to the U.S. Taxpayer after Mr. 

Jacobs blew the whistle on this fraud in federal court in 2018.12 More 

recently, on February 24, 2022, the Honorable U.S. District Judge Aileen 

Cannon entered an order on the Whistleblower case against Chase.  

Judge Cannon’s order found Mr. Jacobs exposed that Chase and its 

counsel” fabricated and coached testimony occurring in various state 

court foreclosure proceedings in which he was involved as an attorney, 

these additions merely purport to shed light on JPMC’s efforts to cover 

up the alleged fraud scheme ….” United States of America ex rel. Bruce 

Jacobs, v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., No. 20-20543-CIV, 2022 WL 

573663, at *7 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 25, 2022). Judge Cannon also found: 

Plaintiff further argues that the FAC newly alleges that Barbara 
Hindman testified that she did not personally witness the 
endorsement of notes, whereas JPMC corporate 
representative witnesses testified that Hindman did in fact 
witness the endorsement of notes [ECF No. 64 p. 18; ECF 
No. 57 128, 154–65]. At most, these allegations signal 
circumstantial evidence supporting the credibility of 
whether the fraud scheme occurred, but they do not add to 
the substance of the scheme described in detail in the blog 
articles, which explicitly label and describe JMPC’s fraudulent 
conduct [ECF No. 30-1 p. 11 (“Enter the Fraudulent Note 
Endorsement from Cynthia Riley”)]. Put another way, while the 
new facts in the FAC add further context, the core publicly 
disclosed fraud allegation— that JPMC was forging the 
signature of WaMu officials and relying on these forgeries 

                                                             
12 https://news.bloomberglaw.com/business-and-practice/bank-of-america-reaches-5-
million-false-claims-act-accord  

https://news.bloomberglaw.com/business-and-practice/bank-of-america-reaches-5-million-false-claims-act-accord
https://news.bloomberglaw.com/business-and-practice/bank-of-america-reaches-5-million-false-claims-act-accord
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in foreclosure proceedings—already was sufficient to give 
rise to an inference that JPMC was engaged in fraudulent 
activity. Id. (emphasis added). 
 
Judge Canon’s findings were consistent with U.S. District Court 

Judge Kevin Karas for the Southern District of New York who wrote in a 

case also involving Washington Mutual Bank FA that: 

In the wake of the recent foreclosure crisis, and the 

dubiousness of the common robo-signing practices of 

various banks and other foreclosing entities, see, e.g., 

Matthew Petrozziello, Who Can Enforce? The Murky World of 

Robo-Signed Mortgages, 67 Rutgers U. L. Rev. 1061, 1068-70 

(2015), it may be time to reconsider whether “forged or 

unauthorized signatures” remain “very uncommon,” see 

Eric A. Zacks & Dustin A. Zacks, A Standing Question: 

Mortgages, Assignments, and Foreclosure, 40 J. Corp. L. 705, 

706 (2015) (“[I]n the face of an overwhelming volume of 

foreclosures to be processed, mortgagees and their assignees 

often failed to assign the mortgages properly, and, in some 

instances, committed fraud or other unauthorized acts in order 

to correct the assignment paper trail.”). Also, this is not a case 

where evidence regarding the validity of the indorsement would 

be in the control of, or more accessible to, Debtor. One would 

expect that a large banking and financial services company 

would have readily accessible evidence by which it could 

establish the timing and validity of the blank indorsement.  In re 

Carssow-Franklin, 213 F. Supp. 3d 577, 591 (S.D.N.Y. 

2016)(emphasis added). 

The Hawaii Supreme Court has twice found this exact same fraud of 

presenting forged endorsements is wrongful, deceptive, and unfair. ¶17. 

Bank of Am., N.A. v. Reyes-Toledo, 139 Hawai'i 361, 390 P.3d 1248 
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(2017); Bank of Am., N.A. v. Reyes-Toledo II, 143 Hawai'i 249, 428 P.3d 

761 (2018), as corrected (Oct. 15, 2018). 

On February 7, 2022, the U. S. Senate Banking Committee sent 

Chase CEO, James Dimon, a letter13 signed by Senator Sherrod Brown, 

Senator Elizabeth Warren, Senator Robert Melendez, Senator Tina Smith, 

Senator Chris Van Hollen, and Senator Raphael Warnock calling out 

Chase for robo-signed evidence and systemic fraud on the court in credit 

card cases across the nation. The letter stated: 

We are deeply troubled by recent reports that JPMorgan 

Chase (“Chase”) – the nation’s largest bank with over $3.2 

trillion in assets – has renewed its predatory practice of robo-

signing purported evidence of credit card debt to sue 

customers during the pandemic. We were concerned to hear 

that this practice has resumed after the January 1, 2020 

expiration of Chase’s consent order with the Consumer 

Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB” or Bureau). 

The Senate Banking Committee is pursuing Chase for presenting 

fraudulent evidence in credit card cases in defiance of the CFPB Consent 

Order. Mr. Jacobs, through the discovery orders of many Circuit judges, 

exposed that Chase is prosecuting the same predatory subprime loans that 

plagued and targeted communities of color across the nation using a 

                                                             
13 https://www.banking.senate.gov/download/letter-to-jpmorgan-chase-on-
robo-signing-2-7-2022  

https://www.banking.senate.gov/download/letter-to-jpmorgan-chase-on-robo-signing-2-7-2022
https://www.banking.senate.gov/download/letter-to-jpmorgan-chase-on-robo-signing-2-7-2022
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practice of “robo-signing” forged blank WAMU endorsements on 

promissory notes in foreclosure cases. 

It is in this context that Mr. Jacobs’ statements must be placed- a 

foreclosure system that “is essentially broken” and victimizing families for 

over a decade and throughout the pandemic. A system depriving 

homeowners of their property without due process of law by judges that 

refuse to disqualify themselves when required by the judicial canons. 

The Ku Klux Klan Act of 1871 grants federal jurisdiction to any person 

that is deprived of their constitutional rights under color of law. The Florida 

Bar is acting in concert with the Third DCA to deprive Mr. Jacobs of his first 

amendment right to free speech under color of law. Under Florida’s Anti-

SLAPP statute and the KKK Act, this Honorable Court should dismiss these 

disciplinary proceedings. Mr. Jacobs has acted truthfully and with integrity. 

He has a right to a speedy dismissal of these charges that infringe on his 

first amendment rights. This Honorable Court should protect those rights. 

 

CONCLUSION 

This action against Mr. Jacobs by the Florida Bar falls squarely within 

the Florida Anti-SLAPP statute and Respondent is entitled to an immediate 
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dismissal of this action with prejudice and the imposition of attorney’s fees 

and costs in favor of Respondent. 

Respectfully submitted, 

___/davidjwinker/________ 

David J. Winker, Esq., B.C.S 

Fla. Bar. No. 73148 

David J. Winker, PA 

4720 S. LeJeune Rd 

Coral Gables, Fl 33146 

305-801-8700 

dwinker@dwrlc.com 
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